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JLil 0 7 XU4 LN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS 

EASTERN DIVISION 
JuI 0 7 2004 

M A R T 1 ~  C. ASH MA^ 
r r  ?:.I ~ I J R  W'rEo STATES 

wsTMF JuwE JuEuL .;: 1 4 . 1  
D I S T R , ~ ~  

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ) MbiC!STZATE JUZGE PASON 

v. 

M T E M  FAKE 1 United Slates Code, 
) Sec~ions 1343, 1956 
) and 2. & 

COUNT ONE 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 GRAND JURY charges: 

1. At times relevant to this indictment: 

a. Thc UnitedStatcs Deparlment of Agriculture ("usDA"), ~ o o d a n d ~ u t r i t i o n  ~ e r % ~  
9 

("F'NS"), was a fcderal agency respunsihlc for the administration and implementation of the Food 

Stamp Program throughout the United States. The Food Stamp Program ("FSP) provided 

assistance to needy individuals in the form of food stamp coupons, and later through Electron~c 

Benefit Transfers ("EBT"). The FSP participanls rcceived an EBT card, d s o  known as a "Llnk 

card," which was used to purchase approved rood pt'oducts a1 participuling stores. 

b. The Link card system was developed to cnable government agencres to deliver FSP 

benefits to recipients through the usc of electronic transfers, much like debit and credit cards, to 

eliminate actual, hard copy Cood stamp coupons. The rcdcmption aspcct of the Tllino~s Link card 

system was operated under contract by Company A and its affiliates located in Austin, Texas 

c. To becomc eligible to participate in the FSP, candidate store owners in the Chicago 

area were required to cornpletc, sign, and submit to the Chicago Field Office of the USDA-FNS an 

FSP Application for Stores, known as form FNS 252. Upon completion of thc application process, 



if the storc and its owner(s) qualified, the store was authorized to participate in thc program and to 

rcdeem food stamp bcnefits from USDA. 

d. Authorized store owners were required to report to the USDA changes from the initial 

application in food sales, inventory, stock, size of the store, changc of location, change of name, and 

change in owncrship. 

c. Authorized storcs could lawfully only accept Link card benefits in exchange Tor 

eligible food items. Authorized stores werc prohibited from accepting Link card benerits in 

exchange [oritems such as alcoholic beverages, tobacco, hot roods, rcady-to-eat foods, lunch countcr 

items, vitamins, medicines, or pet foods. 

f. Authorized stores were prohibited from accepting Link card benefits in exchangc for 

cash and were prohibited from accepting Link card benefits presented for redemption a1 anothcr 

store. 

g. Prior to recciving authorization to participate in the FSP, the applicant store owner 

or hisherreprcscntative was required to participate in an interview conducted by theUSDA. During 

the interview, the applicant store owner was informed of the prohibitions against accepting Linkcard 

bcnefits in exchange for cash and ineligible itcrns. 

h. Through thcLinkcardsystem, FSP bcnefits were automatically credited to the Illinois 

recipient's Link card each month. In order for recipients to access their electronic benefits to 

purchase eligible food items, they were rcquir~d to present their Link card to a retailer authorized 

by USDA. Unauthorized retailers could not accept Link cards. Thc Link cards could only bc 

processed by a specially-provided and manufactured point-of-sale terminal dcsigned to accept Link 



cards (hereinafter the "Link card machinc"). After manually cntering the information or "swiping" 

the Link c u d  through the Link card machine, the food stamp recipient entcrcd a personal 

identification number ("PIN") into the machinc's keypad to completc the transaction. Thc Linkcud 

machine recordcd theLink card account number, thc date and time of thc transactiun, and thc amount 

debited from thc recipient's Link card. 

I. Once the necessary inforrniltiun was received by the Link card machinc, it 

aulomatically called a 1-800 telephone number, which allowcd the Link card machine to dial into 

Company A's computcr system located in  Austin, Texas. Through this contact, the Link c a d  

transaction was either approved or rejected, and the result was thcn communicated to the Link card 

machine, again via the open phone line. If the Link cwd transaction was approved, Company A 

would transfer or cause to be transfcrrcd funds from each redemption into thc bank account of thc 

authorized retailer to whom the Link card machine was rcgistered. The transfer of funds into an 

account idcntified by the authorized I-etailernormally toukplace thc next business day following the 

approved Link card transaction. 

j. Dcfendunt Hatem F A U  owned andopcratedT & T Foods, a neighborhoodgrocery 

store located at 2738 W. North Avenuc, Chicagu, Illinois. 

k. On or about March 9, 1999, defendtlnt FARIZ caused to be preparcd and submilled 

to USDA an FSP Application for Stores ("Program Application") on behalf of T & T Foods. On the 

application, defendant FARIZ represented to the USDA, among other things, that: I )  the store was 

owned by a privately-held corporation; 2) defendant FARE was thc corportltion's president; 3) 

defcndant FARIZ was the sture's on-sitc manager; 4) the store's annual eligiblc food sales estimatc 



was $149,000; 5) the store's bank account would be held at LaSalle Bank; and 6 )  the store cmied 

eligible staple foods. 

1. On or about March 9, 1999, an FNS FSP Specialist completed a Pre-Authorization 

Visit Repolt regarding T & T Foods. During the visit, the FNS Program Specialist interviewed 

defendant FARIZ, who idcntified himself as the owner of T & T Foods. Thc Program Specialist 

reviewed with defendant FARIZ many FSP rcgulations, including thc rcgulations regarding food 

stamp benefit trafficking and the sclling of ineligible items for food stump benefits and the penillties 

for those violations. 

m. On or about March 9, 1999, defendmi FARIZ signed a Retailer Tralning 

Acknowledgment on behalf of T & T Foods, which stated, in part, that: 1) he had altended rctailer 

orientation held by FNS and that the FSP rules andrcgulations had been thoroughly reviewed; 2) he 

understood that exchanging cash for food stamp benefits was illegal and could result in p e ~ l ~ ~ r u ~ e n t  

disqualification from the FSP as well as criminal proseculion; and 3) it was his responsibility to 

cnsure that a11 full-time and p i - t i m e  employees were properly instructed regarding the FSP 

regulations. 

n. On orabout March9,1999, defendant FAREalso signedan EBTRetailer Agreement 

on behalf of T &T Foods which stated, in pait, that: 1) he agreed that only eligible food items would 

be exchanged ibr food stamp benefits; 2) hc accepted responsibility on behalf of the firm to prcvent 

violations of the FSP, including bul not lim~tcd to trading cash Tor food stamp benefits or accept~ng 

bcnefits from people not authorized lo use thcm; and 3) he understood that accepting food stamp 



benefits in cxchange for anything other than eligiblc food items was a violation of federal criminal 

and civil law. 

o. On or about March 24, 1999, a visit was made by a reprcsentalive of the USDA lo 

T & T Foods to determine if the store was eligible to participate in the FSP. The FNS Survey Report 

indicated that the store was: 1) a convenience st or^ located in a residentialicommereial area; 2) had 

one cash registersicheck out stands; 3) did not have any shopping carts or baskets available; 4) had 

no optical scanners to expedite the chcck-oul of food items by scanning their bar codes; and 5) had 

no EBT point-of-sale (PO$) terminal to facilitate quicker transactions. 

p. On or about April 15,1999, T &TFoods was authorized to accept USDA food stamp 

benefits, and designated FNS authorization number 3713954. Defendant FARIZ used a LaSalle 

Bank account, opened on March 1, 1999, to accept wire transfers associated with Link card 

transactions. 

q. A revicw of FNS food stamp and clcctronic benefit redemptions for T & T Foods 

revealed that the store redeemed approximately $1,662,354.01 in USDA electronic food stamp 

benefits during the period May I999 through December 2000, dcspite the store's reported estimated 

annual food sales of $149,000. 



2. Beginning in or about May 1999 and continuing until in or about Dccember 2000, a1 

Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, and elsewhere, 

HATEM FARM 

defendant herein, knowingly devised, intendcd to devise and participated in a scheme lo defraud and 

to obtain money and property fromthe USDA by means of materially false and fraudulent prctcnses, 

representatrons, and promises, which scheme is further described below. 

3. It was part of the scheme that beginnrng in or about May 1999 and continuing until 

in or about December 2000, defendant FARTZ, and others known und unknown to the grand jury, 

used T & T Foods' authorized Link card machine to process fraudulent Link card transactions in 

which defendant FARIZ accepted and caused to be accepted Link card benefits in exchangc for 

ineligible food items and discounted mounts of cash knowing that such exchanges were prohihitcd 

under the FSP. 

4. It was rurther part of the scheme that defendant F A R E  fraudulently caused Company 

A affiliates lo wire transfer upproximatcly $1,662,354.01 to the T & T Foods' account at LaSalle 

Bank as reimbursement for Link curd benefrts redeemed. 

5. It was further pari of the scheme that beginning in or about May 1999 andcontinuing 

untll in or about December 2000, defendant FARE withdrew substantial sums of money from thc 

T & TFoods account he controlled at LaSalle Bank. Defendant FARIZ used, andcauscd to be used, 

the money he withdrew from LaSalle Bank to purchase Link card benefits, and to pay others 

associated with this venture and himself, and converted portions to cash, among other things. 



6 .  It was further part of the scheme that on multiple occasions between in or about May 

1999 and Decembcr 2000, defendant FARIZ knowingly redeemed benefits from Link cards in 

cxchange for thc payment or U.S. currency lo the card holder and defendant FARTZ knowingly 

allowed others known and unknown to the grand jury to redeem bencfits from Link cards in 

exchangc for the paymcnt of discounted amounts of U.S. currency using the T & T Link card 

machine. 

7. It was furlherpart of the scheme that on or about January 13,2000, defendant FARIZ 

knowingly rcdeemed benefits from a Link card in the mount  of $135.20 in exchangc for the 

payment by dcfcndant FARTZ of $100.00 in U, S. currency to card-holder 1. 

8. I1 was further par1 of the scheme that on or about January 25,2000, a transaction that 

occun-ed at "Store A," a store not authorized to cxchange benefits, was processed using the T & T 

Link card machine whereby Link card benefits in the amount of$299.98 were exchanged for the 

payment of $210.00 in U.S. currcncy to card-holder 2. 

9. It was fut-therpmt orthe scheme that on or about April4,2000, an individual working 

at T & T Foods redeerncd benefits from a Link card in the amount of $70.85 in cxchange fur the 

payment of $35.00 in U.S. currency to card-holdcr 3. 

10. It was further part of the scheme that on or about April 11, 2000, an individual 

working at T & T Foods redeemcd benefits from a Link card in the amount of $201.33 in returm for 

the payment or $100.00 in U. S, currency to cd-holder 4. 



1 I. It was further pu t  ofthe scheme that defendant FARlZmisrepresentcdand concealed 

and caused to be misreprcscnted and concealed the. purposes of, and the acts done in furtherance of, 

the schemc in order to avoid detection of the schcmc. 

12. On or about January 13,2000, at Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, 

HATEM FARIZ, 

defendant herein, for the purpose of cxccuting the above-dcscr-ibed scheme, knowingly caused lo he 

transmitted by means of a wire communication in interstatc commerce from Chicago, Illinois, to 

Austin, Texas, certain slgns, signals and sounds, namely: a point of sale LINK card transaction 

requesting authorization to purchase Electronic Bcncfit ' hns fe r  food stamp benefits having a face 

value of approxim~tel y $135.20; 

In violation of Title 18, United States Cude, Sections 1343 and 2. 



COIJNT TWO 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 Grand Jury turther charges: 

1. TheGrand Jury incorporatesparagraphsOne through Elcven of Count One as though 

fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about January 25,2000, at Chlcago, in the Northcrn District of lllinois,Eastem 

Division, 

HATEM FARIZ, 

defendant hcrein, for the purpose of executing the above-desctibcd schcme, knowingly caused lo be 

transmitted by means of a wire communicat~on in interstate commercc from Chicago, Illinois, to 

Austin, Texas, certain signs, signals and sounds, namely: a point of salc LINK card transaction 

requesting authorization to purchase Electronic Bencfit Transfer food stamp benefits having a face 

value uf approximately $299.98; 

In v~olation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2. 



COUNT TtlKEE 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 Grand Jury further chargcs: 

I .  The GrandJury incorporatesparagraphs One thruughEleven of Count Oneas though 

fully set rorth herein, 

2. On or about April 4,2000, at Chicago, in the Northcrn District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, and clsewhere, 

HATEM FARIZ 

Mendant herein, for the purpose or executing the above-described schemc, knowingly caused to be 

transmitted by means or a wire communication in interstate commerce from Chicago, Illinois, to 

Austin, Texas, certain signs, signals and sounds, namely: u point of sale LINK card transaction 

requesting authorization to purchase Electronic Benefit Transfer food stamp benefits having a face 

value of approximttely $70.35; 

In violation of Titlc 18, United States Codc, Sections 1343 ilnd 2. 



COUNT FOUR 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 Grand Jury further charges: 

1. The Grand Jury incorporatcspuragraphs Onc through Eleven of Count 0 n e . a ~  ~hough 

fully set forth hercin. 

2. On or about April 11, 2000, at Chicagu, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, and elsewhere, 

l"L4TEM FARIZ 

defendant herein, fur thc purposc of executing the above-described scheme, knowingly caused to be 

transmitted by mcans of a wire communication in interstate commerce from Chicago, lllinuis, to 

Austin, Tcxas, certain signs, signals and sounds. namely: a point of sale LlNK card transaction 

requesting authorization to purchase Electronic Benefit Transfcr food stamp bencfits having a facc 

value of approximutely $201.33; 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1343 and 2. 



COUNT FIVE 

Thc SPECIAL MARCH 2004 Grand Jury further charges that: 

On or ahout July 24,2000, at Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division, 

HATEM FARIZ, 

defendant herein, did knowingly conduct and attcmpt to conduct a financial wansaction affecting 

interstate commerce, namely the payment of $7,000 to Individual A by a check drawn on the T & 

T Foods account at LaSdle Bank, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawl'ul activity, 

namely wirc fraud in violation of Title 18, United Slates Code Section 1343, with the intent to 

promote the carrying on of that specificd unlawful activity, and while conducting and attempting to 

conduct such financial transaction knew that the property involved in thc financial transaction, that 

is $7,000, represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity; 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 (a)(l)(A)(i). 



COIJNT SlX 

Thc SPECIAL MARCH 2004 Grand Jury further charges that: 

On or about October 13, 2000, at Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois, Etlstern 

Division, 

HATEM FARIZ, 

llefcndant hercin, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting 

interstate commerce, namely the payment oT $3,400 tu Individual A by a check drawn on the T & 

T Foods account ut LaSalle Bank, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawl'ul activity, 

namely wirc fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code Section 1343, with thc intent to 

promote the carrying on of that specificd unlawful activity, and while conducting and attempting to 

conduct such financial transaction knew that the propcrty involvcd in the financial transaction, that 

is $3,400, represented the proceeds of some form of unlawrul activity; 

In violation d T i t l e  18, United States Code, Section 1956 (a)(l)(A)(i). 



COUNT SEVEN 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 Grand Jury further charges that: 

On or about November 7, 2000, at Chicago, in the Northern Disttict of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, 

HATEM FARIZ, 

derendant herein, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting 

interstate commerce, namely the paymcnt of $4,500 to Individual A by il check drawn on the T & 

T Foods account at LnSalle Dank, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, 

namely wire fraud in violation of Title 18, United States Code Section 1343, with the intent to 

promote the carrying on of that specified unlilwful activity, and while conducting and attempting lo 

conduct such financial transaction knew that thc property involved in thc financial trwsuclion, that 

is $4,500, represented the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity; 

In violation of Titlc 18, United Slates Code, Section 1956 (a)(l)(A)(i). 



COUNT EIGHT 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 GRAND JURY rurthcr charges: 

On or about September 20, 2000, at Chicago, in the Nonhcrn District 01 Illinois, Eastern 

Division, 

HATEM FARTZ, 

defendant hcrcin, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transactloll affecting 

interstate commercc, namely the wrthdrawal of $9,600 from the T & T Foods account at LaSalle 

Bank, which rnvolved ihe procceds of a specified unlawful activity, namely wire fraud rn violation 

of Title 18, United States Code Section 1343, knowing that the transaction was designed in whole 

and in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, source, ownership, and control of the 

procceds of the specified unlawful activity, and while conducting and attcrnpting to conduct such 

rinancial transaction knew that the property involved in the financial transaction, that is $9,600, 

reprcsented the procceds of some fonn of unlawTul activity; 

In violation of Trtlc 18, United Statcs Code, Section 1956 (a)(l)(R)(i). 



COUNT NWE 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 GRAND JURY turthcr charges: 

On or about September 21, 2000, at Chicago, in the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Division, 

HATEM FARIZ, 

dcfcndant herein, did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting 

interstate commerce, namely the withdrawal of $9,400 from the T & T Foods account at LaSalle 

Hank, which involved the proceeds of a specified unlawful activity, namely wire fraud in violation 

of Title 18, Unitcd States Code Section 1343, knowing that the transaction was designcd in whole 

and in pan to conceal and disguisc the nature, location, source, ownership, and cuntrol of the 

proceeds of the specificd unlawful activity, and while conducting and attempting to conduct such 

rinancial transaction knew that the propcrty involved in the financial transaction, that is $9,400, 

represented the proceeds of some form of unlnwful activity; 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 (a)(l)@)(i). 



COUNT TEN 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 GRAND JURY further charges: 

On or about Septernher 22, 2000, at Chicago, in the Norlhern District of Illinois, Eastern 

Div~sion, 

HATEM FARIZ, 

defendant hercin, did knowingly conduct and attcmpt to conduct a financial lransaction affecting 

interstate cornmercc, namely the withdrawal of $9,500 from the T & T Foods account at LaSalle 

Bank, which involved thc proceeds or a spccified unlawful activity, namely wirc fraud in violation 

of Title 18, United States Cude Section 1343, knowing that the transaction was designed in whole 

and in part to conceal and disguise the nature, location, suurce, ownership, and control of the 

proceeds of the specilied unlawful activity, and while conducting and attempting to conduct such 

tinancial transaction knew that thc property involvcd in the financial transaction, that is $9,500, 

represented the proceeds of some form or unlawful activily; 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956 (a)(l)(B)(i). 



FORFEITURE ALLEGATION ONE 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 Grand Jury furlher charges that: 

1. The allegations of Counts One through Four are re-alleged and fully incorporated 

herein for the purpose of alleging forfeiture to the United States pursuant to Title 28, United States 

Code, Section 2461(c) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(l)(C), 

2 .  As a result of the violations as alleged in Counts One through Four of the 

roregoing indictment, 

BATEM FARE, 

defendant herein, shall forfcit to thc United Statcs any and all right, title, and interest he may have 

in any property, real and personill, which constitutes and is derived from proceeds traceable to the 

offenses as charged in Counts One through Four. 

3. Thc interests of the defendant subject to forfeiture to the United Slates pursuant to 

Title 18, United States Code, Sectiun 98l(a)(l)(c) as incorporated by Title 28, United Statcs Codc, 

Section 2461(c), include but arc not limitcd to approximately $1,662,354.01 in U.S. currency. 

4. If any of the forfeitable property described abovc, as a rcsult of any act or omission 

by the defendant: 

a. cannot bc locatcd upon the exercise of due diligence; 

b, has been transreved or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

c. has becn placed bcyond thc jurisdiction of the court; 

d. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

e,  has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without difficulty, 



the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of  substitute property pursuant to the 

provisions of  Title 21, UnitedStates Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 28, UnitedStates 

Codc, Section 2461 (c).  

All pursuant to Tide 28, United States Codc, Section 2461(c) and Title 18, Unitcd States 

Code, Scction 981(a)(l)(C). 



FORFEITURE AI.,12EGATION TWO 

The SPECIAL MARCH 2004 Grand Jury further chargcs that: 

1. The allegations of Count Fivc through Ten are re-alleged and fully incorporated 

herein for the purpose of alleging forfciture to the United Statcs pursuant to Title 18, Unitcd States 

Code, Section 982. 

2. As a result of the violations of Title 18, United Statcs Code, Section 1956 of the 

foregoing indictment, 

HATEM FARIZ, 

defendant herein, shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 

982(a)(l), any m d  all right, title, m d  interest hc may have in any propcrty, real and personal, 

involved in such offenses and tractable to the ufrenses as charged in Counts Fivc through Ten. 

3 The interests of the defendant subject to forfeiture to the Unitcd States pursuant to 

Titlc IS, United States Code, Section 982(a)(l), include but are not limited to the following: 

approximately $43,400. 

4. If any of the forfeitable property described above, as a result of any act or omission 

by the defendant: 

a. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

b. has bccn transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

c, has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of thc court; 

d. has been substantially diminished in valuc; or 

e. has beencommingled with otherproperty which cannot be divided without difficulty, 



the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property undcr the provtslons 

of Title 21, United Slates Code, Sectlon 853(p), as Incorporated by Title 18, United Statcs Code, 

Section 982(b)(l), 

All pursuant to Titlc 18, United Staies Codc, Section 982. 

A TRUE BILL: 

FOREPERSON \ 
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